IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT NO. 90716-1

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 69414-6-I

TOWARD RESPONSIBLE DEVELOPMENT,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND, et al.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Bricklin, WSBA No. 7583 Bryan Telegin, WSBA No. 46686 BRICKLIN & NEWMAN, LLP 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 3303 Seattle, WA 98154 (206) 264-8600 Attorneys for Appellant

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Toward Responsible Development ("TRD"), appellant below, hereby petitions for review of the Court of Appeals' decision identified in Part II.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

TRD seeks review of the unpublished opinion issued by Division I in the case of *Toward Responsible Development, et al. v. San City of Black Diamond, et al.*, No. 69414-6-I (June 16, 2014) (App. A. hereto). The Court of Appeals denied TRD's motion for reconsideration on July 9, 2014 (App. B. hereto).

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

RCW 4.84.370 provides that the Court of Appeals may award attorney's fees to the prevailing party in a land use case provided that the party also prevailed before the Superior Court and before the local jurisdiction. Does RCW 4.84.370 allow the Court of Appeals to award attorney's fees when the case is dismissed on procedural grounds, where no court has ruled on the merits of the appeal, and where the case was dismissed as moot?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the second appeal to reach this Court regarding two massive development projects in the small town of Black Diamond. The

two projects, proposed by respondent Yarrow Bay,¹ are known as The Villages and Lawson Hills. Together, The Villages and Lawson Hills represent the largest development project ever proposed in King County and are anticipated to transform the small town of Black Diamond into a city the size of Anacortes.

The first appeal to reach this Court was *Toward Responsible Development v. City of Black Diamond, et al.*, Supreme Court No. 89997-5 (herein "*TRD P*"). That appeal involved a challenge by TRD to the City's first round of approvals for The Villages and Lawson Hills — known as the Master Planned Development ("MPD") Ordinances — which the City adopted on September 20, 2010. In that appeal, TRD alleged violations of the State Environmental Policy Act ("SEPA"), Chapter 43.21C RCW, and the City's comprehensive plan and code requirements. On January 27, 2014, the Court of Appeals upheld the MPD Ordinances and, on June 4, 2014, this Court denied TRD's petition for review.

In contrast, this appeal involves the City's second round of approvals of The Villages and Lawson Hills — the "Development Agreements" — which the City adopted while the dispute in *TRD I* was still pending before the King County Superior Court. *See* CP 15 & 145.

We use the name "Yarrow Bay" to refer collectively to the proponents of The Villages and Lawson Hills, respondents BD Village Partners LP and BD Lawson Partners LP.

These second-round approvals are subsidiary to the MPD Ordinances at issue in *TRD I* and their purpose is to flesh out and add detail to the requirements in City's first round of approvals.² We refer to this appeal as the "Development Agreements Appeal."

On December 29, 2011, TRD initiated the Development Agreements Appeal in King County Superior Court pursuant Washington's Land Use Petition Act ("LUPA"), Chapter 36.70C RCW. See CP 1. LUPA provides the state's exclusive mechanism for judicial review of local land use decisions.

While both lawsuits challenged the City's approval of The Villages and Lawson Hills, TRD also anticipated that the Development Agreements Appeal would be rendered moot once the dispute in *TRD I* was finally resolved. For example, TRD anticipated that if its appeal in *TRD I* was successful, the Court of Appeals would void the MPD Ordinances, in which case the projects could not proceed.³ On the other hand, TRD

A detailed explanation of the relationship between the MPD Ordinances and the Development Agreements may be found in TRD's reply brief before the Court of Appeals. See Reply Brief of Toward Responsible Development at 9–11 (Aug. 5, 2013) (herein "TRD Reply Br."). Suffice it to say, the MPD Ordinances at issue in TRD I represent the City's high-level, generalized approval of the projects, while the Development Agreements are intended to implement the MPD Ordinances with, inter alia, specific development standards, mitigation requirements, vesting provisions, and review procedures. See id.

As noted in TRD's reply brief below, the City's municipal code forbids the construction of a development project with the City's "Master Planned Development Zoning District" without a valid MPD ordinance specifically authorizing the project. See TRD Reply Br. at 9. Thus, voiding the MPD Ordinances in TRD I would have stripped

informed the superior court that, should it lose the appeal in *TRD I*, it would not pursue the Development Agreements Appeal (which would also render the appeal moot). *See, e.g.,* CP 726, 734. In all, TRD had a very narrow purpose in filing the Development Agreements Appeal — to preserve its right to oppose The Villages and Lawson Hills in the event that its first appeal proved successful, and to head off any argument by Yarrow Bay that the projects could proceed notwithstanding the abolishment of the MPD Ordinances in *TRD I*.

TRD also filed the Development Agreements Appeal before *TRD I* was finally resolved because the dispute is subject to LUPA's strict 21-day statute of limitations. *See* RCW 36.70C.040(3). Had TRD waited to file the Development Agreements Appeal until after *TRD I* was resolved, it would have been precluded from challenging the development agreements even were it to prevail in *TRD I*.

Consistent with its limited purpose in filing the Development Agreements Appeal, and recognizing that the issues would be mooted by a final ruling in *TRD I*, TRD moved the superior court early on to stay its challenge to the development agreements. *See* CP 417. Subsequently, the parties agreed to stay the litigation pending the superior court's resolution of TRD's challenge to the MPD Ordinances. *See* CP 476–77. The parties

Yarrow Bay of its authority to proceed with the two projects, notwithstanding that the City subsequently adopted development agreements for the two projects.

agreed that, should the superior court rule against TRD, TRD could move the court for a further stay pending the Court of Appeals' resolution of *TRD I*. CP 477.

On August 27, 2012, the superior court upheld the MPD Ordinances in *TRD I* and, shortly thereafter, TRD filed a motion to continue the stay of the Development Agreements Appeal. *See* CP 497. As with the initial stay, TRD believed that a further stay was warranted because a final resolution in *TRD I* would render the Development Agreements Appeal moot. *See* CP 501.

Notwithstanding TRD's statement that it would dismiss the Development Agreements appeal should it lose its appeal in *TRD I*, and notwithstanding that the issues in the Development Agreements Appeal would soon be rendered moot, the superior court denied TRD's request to continue the stay. *See* CP 799. Later, the superior court dismissed the Development Agreements Appeal for failure to pay for the administrative record. CP 1126. TRD had hoped to avoid that cost — totaling \$17,000 — by staying the litigation pending a final resolution in *TRD I*. CP 631. For a grass-roots group like TRD, such an expense would have been burdensome and, worse, unnecessary in light of the fact that the case would soon be moot. *Id*.

TRD appealed the superior court's dismissal of the Development Agreements Appeal, arguing that the dismissal was unwarranted in light of the court's prior, erroneous decision to not stay the case. See CP 1129. But before the Court of Appeals issued its final ruling in that appeal, it issued its opinion in TRD I and upheld the MPD Ordinances. The Court of Appeals later affirmed the superior court's dismissal of the Development Agreements Appeal, noting that the case was moot in light of TRD's prior statement that it would drop the appeal should it lose in TRD I. See App. A at 6.

In addition to dismissing the Development Agreements Appeal as moot, the Court of Appeals awarded the City and Yarrow Bay their attorneys' fees pursuant to RCW 4.84.370. *See* App. A. at 7–8.⁴ In doing so, the court noted that RCW 4.84.370 is currently the subject of a conflict among the Courts of Appeals. *Id.* at 8. According to Divisions II and III, RCW 4.84.370 does not permit an award of attorneys' fees unless the challenged land use decision is upheld on the merits. Under that interpretation, the Court of Appeals would have been precluded from making a fee award because the case was dismissed on procedural grounds

Subsequent to the Court of Appeals' decision, respondents requested more than \$50,000 in attorneys' fees and costs for work performed before the Court of Appeals in the Development Agreements Appeal. Between them, Yarrow Bay and the City have also requested nearly \$200,000 in fees and costs for work performed before the Court of Appeals in *TRD I*.

and neither the superior court nor the Court of Appeals ruled on the merits of the Development Agreements Appeal. See App. A. at 8.

On July 7, 2014, TRD moved for reconsideration of the court's fee award. In part, TRD asked the Court of Appeals to defer ruling on the attorneys' fees issue until this Court issues its opinion in *Durland v. San Juan County*, Supreme Court No. 89293-8. In *Durland*, this Court accepted review to resolve the conflict among the Divisions regarding RCW 4.84.370 — namely, whether the statute authorizes an award of attorneys' fees when no final decision on the merits has been issued. TRD also noted that subsequent to this Court accepting review in *Durland*, the same issue was raised in *Gresh v. Okanogan County*, Supreme Court No. 89948-7. On June 3, 2014, this Court deferred its decision to grant review in *Gresh* pending the outcome in *Durland*.

On July 9, 2014, the Court of Appeals denied TRD's motion for reconsideration, including TRD's request that it defer ruling on the attorneys' fees issue until after this Court decides the issue in *Durland* (and, potentially, in *Gresh*). *See* App. B. This petition followed.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court may grant review and consider a Court of Appeals opinion if it involves an issue of substantial public interest or if the

Oral argument in *Durland* was held on March 13, 2014, but no decision has yet been issued.

decision conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3), (4). Here, TRD does not seek review of the dismissal of the Development Agreements Appeal. Nor does TRD seek review of the superior court's denial of a stay. As TRD has stated throughout this case, it has no intention of prosecuting the merits of this appeal after losing its appeal in *TRD I*.

TRD does, however, seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision to award the City and Yarrow Bay attorneys' fees under RCW 4.84.370. That statute, titled "Appeals of land use decisions — Fees and costs," provides as follows:

- (1) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, reasonable attorneys' fees and costs shall be awarded to the prevailing party or substantially prevailing party on appeal before the court of appeals or the supreme court of a decision by a county, city, or town to issue, condition, or deny a development permit involving a site-specific rezone, zoning, plat, conditional use, variance, shoreline permit, building permit, site plan, or similar land use approval or decision. The court shall award and determine the amount of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs under this section if:
- (a) The prevailing party on appeal was the prevailing or substantially prevailing party before the county, city, or town, or in a decision involving a substantial development permit under chapter 90.58 RCW, the prevailing party on appeal was the prevailing party or the substantially prevailing party before the shoreline[s] hearings board; and
- (b) The prevailing party on appeal was the prevailing party or substantially prevailing party in all prior judicial proceedings.

(2) In addition to the prevailing party under subsection (1) of this section, the county, city, or town whose decision is on appeal is considered a prevailing party if its decision is upheld at superior court and on appeal.

RCW 4.84.370 (emphasis added).

As noted in the petitions for review in *Durland* and *Gresh*, RCW 4.84.370 is an exception to the American rule that governs the awarding of attorney's fees. Like most American jurisdictions, Washington has followed this rule since the beginning of its statehood. *See*, *e.g.*, *Larson v*. *Winder*, 14 Wash. 647, 651, 45 P. 315 (1896). The American rule provides that "[i]n absence of contract, statute or recognized ground of equity, a court has *no power* to award an attorney's fee as part of the costs of litigation." *State ex rel. Macri v*. *City of Bremerton*, 8 Wn.2d 93, 113, 111 P.2d 612 (1941) (emphasis added).

The American rule embodies many important public policies, not the least of which is access to justice — it ensures that less wealthy plaintiffs will not be deterred from seeking redress for fear of being saddled with their opponent's legal fees should they lose.⁶ Accordingly,

See, e.g., Ackerman v. Kaufman, 41 Ariz. 110, 114, 15 P.2d 966 (1932) ("Our public policy requires that the honest plaintiff should not be frightened from asking the aid of the law by the fear of an extremely heavy bill of costs against him should he lose."); Straus v. Victor Talking Mach. Co., 297 F. 791, 799 (2nd Cir. 1924) ("[I]t would be a negation of the principle and right of free access to the courts to hold that the submission of rights to judicial determination involved a dangerous gamble which might subject the loser to heavy damage.").

this Court has held that because fee-shifting statutes are exceptions to the American rule, they must be construed narrowly. *See Cosmopolitan Eng'g Group, Inc. v. Ondeo Degremont, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 292, 149 P.3d 666 (2006). Abrogation of the American rule, in whole or in part, requires "a clear expression of intent from the legislature." *Id.*

Consistent with this Court's instruction in *Cosmopolitan Engineering Group* to construe fee-shifting statutes narrowly, the Courts of Appeals for Divisions II and III have held that RCW 4.84.370 does not authorize an award of attorneys' fees unless the case is resolved on the merits. *See, e.g., Northshore Investors, LLC v. City of Tacoma*, 174 Wn. App. 678, 701, 301 P.3d 1049 (2013); *Richards v. City of Pullman*, 134 Wn. App. 876, 884, 142 P.3d 1121 (2006); *Witt v. Port of Olympia*, 126 Wn. App. 752, 759–60, 109 P.3d 489 (2005); *Overhulse Neighborhood Association v. Thurston County*, 94 Wn. App. 593, 601, 972 P.2d 470 (1999).

In this case, the superior court dismissed the Development Agreements Appeal for failure to pay the costs of the administrative record, and the Court of Appeals affirmed, in part, on the basis that the case is moot. The merits of the Development Agreements Appeal was never adjudicated — either by the superior court or by the court of appeals

— and the court had "no power" to make a fee award to the City or Yarrow Bay. *State ex rel. Macri*, 8 Wn.2d at 113.

In awarding fees, the Court of Appeals followed *Prekeges v. King County*, 98 Wn. App. 275, 285, 990 P.2d 405 (1999), in which Division I held (contrary to Divisions II and III) that RCW 4.84.370 does not require a decision on the merits. *See* App. A. at 9 n. 23. The Court of Appeals also relied on the Division I opinion in *Durland v. San Juan County*, which is currently under review by this Court. *Id*.

As evidenced by this Court's acceptance of review in *Durland*, and its deferral of the *Gresh* petition for review, the correct interpretation of RCW 4.84.370 raises issues of substantial public interest. The issue is also currently the subject of a conflict among the Courts of Appeals. Thus, we ask that this Court accept review of the issue in this case or, alternatively, defer review pending the outcome in *Durland*. Because neither the superior court nor the Court of Appeals reached the merits of this case, those courts did not address, let alone "uphold" the Development Agreements within the meaning of RCW 4.84.370. The statute does not authorize an award of attorneys' fees and this Court should grant review to correct the Court of Appeals' erroneous interpretation of RCW 4.84.370, which has now further divided the Courts of Appeals on this important issue.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant Toward Responsible Development respectfully requests that this Court grant review of the fee award to respondents City of Black Diamond and Yarrow Bay.