RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Sep 08, 2014, 11:08 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 90716-1

Court of Appeals No. 69414-6-I

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TOWARD RESPONSIBLE DEVELOPMENT, Appellant,

v.

CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND, et al., Respondents

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Nancy Bainbridge Rogers, WSBA No. 26662 Randall P. Olsen, WSBA No. 38488 CAIRNCROSS & HEMPELMANN

524 Second Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104-2323 Telephone: (206) 587-0700 Facsimile: (206) 587-2308 Attorneys for BD Lawson Partners, LP and BD Village Partners, LP

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court should deny the Petition for Review filed by Toward Responsible Development, a Washington nonprofit corporation ("TRD"). Likewise, there is no basis for the Court to defer decision on TRD's Petition until the *Durland* case is decided. There is no split among the Courts of Appeals as to whether fees should be awarded to Respondent Yarrow Bay¹ in this case. Here, the Court of Appeals properly awarded Yarrow Bay its fees and costs pursuant to RCW 4.84.370(1). The cases cited by TRD from Divisions II and III all involve a government entity seeking fees under RCW 4.84.370(2), which requires a finding that the government's decision was upheld. Those cases do not apply here. The Court of Appeals properly awarded fees to Yarrow Bay as the prevailing party or substantially prevailing party under RCW 4.84.370(1).

Even if there was a split among the Courts of Appeals, the plain language of the statute, the policy behind the statute, and the equities required the Court of Appeals to award Yarrow Bay its attorneys' fees and costs. None of the considerations governing review under RAP 13.4(b) warrant accepting review. The Court should deny TRD's Petition for Review.

¹ Respondents BD Lawson Partners, LP and BD Village Partners, LP are consistently referenced as "Yarrow Bay."

II. ARGUMENT

A. There is no split among the Courts of Appeals as to the application of RCW 4.84.370(1).

RCW 4.84.370 contains two subsections. RCW 4.84.370(1) states in relevant part that "reasonable attorneys' fees and costs shall be awarded to the prevailing party or substantially prevailing party on appeal before the court of appeals or the supreme court of a...land use approvalif...[t]he prevailing party on appeal was the prevailing party or substantially prevailing party in all prior judicial proceedings."

Separately, RCW 4.84.370(2) states in relevant part "the county, city, or town whose decision is on appeal is considered a prevailing party if its decision is upheld at superior court and on appeal." Subsection (1) applies to Yarrow Bay.

TRD cites cases from the Court of Appeals for Divisions II and III where the Court denied an award of fees under RCW 4.84.370(2) because no decision was issued on the merits. Unlike this case—where fees were awarded to Yarrow Bay pursuant to RCW 4.84.370(1)—the cases cited by TRD each involved a government entity seeking fees against a private appellant pursuant to RCW 4.84.370(2). See Northshore Investors, LLC v. City of Tacoma, 174 Wn. App. 678, 701, 301 P.3d 1049 (2013) (denying fees because the matter was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction and therefore the city's decision was not "upheld" as required by RCW 4.84.370(2); Richards v. City of Pullman, 134 Wn. App. 876, 884, 142 P.3d 1121 (2006) (denying fees because the city of "Pullman's decision

was not 'upheld' at superior court because [the appeal]...was merely dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction" and therefore there was no decision on the merits to support an award of fees under RCW 4.84.370(2)); Witt v. Port of Olympia, 126 Wn. App. 752, 759-60, 109 P.3d 489 (2005) (denying fees because the case was dismissed for improper service and therefore the Port's decision was not "upheld" under RCW 4.84.370(2)); Overhulse Neighborhood Ass'n v. Thurston County, 94 Wn. App. 593, 601, 972 P.2d 470 (1999) (denying fees because the case was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction and therefore Thurston County's decision was not "upheld" under RCW 4.84.370(2)).

Even if a conflict between the Courts of Appeals exists with regard to the application of RCW 4.84.370(2), that only impacts the City's request, not Yarrow Bay, and TRD does not even object to the amount of the City's fees, noting that the "City seeks a reasonable sum for an appeal of this nature." *See* Response of Appellant, Toward Responsible Development, to Attorney Fee Applications at pg. 3, Court of Appeals Case No. 69414-6-I.

This case is unlike the cases cited above. Rather, it is more similar to the facts in *Prekeges v. King County*, 98 Wn. App. 275, 990 P.2d 405 (1999). There, the Court of Appeals for Division I applied RCW 4.84.370(1) and awarded fees to a private respondent where the appeal was dismissed for failure to exhaust administrative remedies, and no decision on the merits was issued. In awarding fees, the Court applied the plain language of RCW 4.84.370(1) and expressly stated that "[t]he statute

does not require that the party must have prevailed on the merits." *Id.* at 285.

Here, the superior court dismissed TRD's case for failure to pay for the administrative record and only after the Court provided TRD three separate deadlines to comply. The holding from *Prekeges* applies and the Court of Appeals correctly awarded fees to Yarrow Bay in its decision below. There is no conflict between the Courts of Appeals, substantial public interest or other reason under RAP 13.4(b) for the Court to accept TRD's Petition for Review. Consequently, Court should deny TRD's Petition for Review.

B. The plain language of RCW 4.84.370(1) and public policy support the Court of Appeals' decision to award fees.

Under RCW 4.84.370, appellants are entitled to one free appeal without the risk of bearing the other party's attorneys' fees and costs. *See Habitat Watch v. Skagit County*, 155 Wn.2d 397, 413, 120 P.3d 56 (2005). The purpose of RCW 4.84.370 is to discourage frivolous appeals and rebalance the burdens between landowners seeking development permits and opponents challenging such developments through appeals. Without RCW 4.84.370, opponents would be able to delay development projects for years without the risk of paying fees. They could do so through a series of appeals that cost the appellants relatively little, but cost the landowner a disproportionate amount of money related to owning idle, unproductive land and as a result of the need to defend the appellants' appeals of the landowner's approved permits. The delays caused by improperly filed

appeals (like those in several of the cases cited above) or delays caused by the failure to prosecute the appeal (like this case) are no less harmful to landowners than appeals that are decided on the merits. The presumption should be that the legislature was aware of that fact when it enacted RCW 4.84.370 without expressing any requirement that the prevailing party obtain a decision on the merits, and because under RCW 36.70C.010, an express purpose of the Land Use Petition Act is to establish "expedited" appeal procedures.

Here, TRD appealed Yarrow Bay's Development Agreement approvals and refused to prosecute its appeal. When the appeal was dismissed, TRD appealed the dismissal to the Court of Appeals, which also denied the appeal. TRD now files its Petition for Review before this Court. All of TRD's appeals require responses from Yarrow Bay, which are costly and time-consuming. All of TRD's appeals have delayed ultimate dismissal of this matter. Under the plain language of RCW 4.84.370(1), the Court of Appeals was required to award fees to Yarrow Bay—i.e., "the prevailing party or substantially prevailing"—and the Court did award such fees. None of the considerations governing review under RAP 13.4(b) warrant accepting review. Accordingly, the Court should deny TRD's Petition for Review.

C. Yarrow Bay requests attorneys' fees for preparing and filing this Answer to TRD's Petition for Review.

Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j), Yarrow Bay requests an award of attorneys' fees and expenses for preparing and filing this Answer.

III. CONCLUSION

The cases cited by TRD establish no split among the Courts of Appeals as to the application of RCW 4.84.370(1). The Court of Appeals properly awarded fees and costs to Yarrow Bay under RCW 4.84.370(1). The plain language of RCW 4.84.370(1) and public policy support the Court of Appeals' decision to award fees and costs to Yarrow Bay. None of the considerations governing review under RAP 13.4(b) warrant accepting review. Accordingly, the Court should deny TRD's Petition for Review and TRD's alternative request to impose additional delay by deferring decision on this Petition until the *Durland* case is decided.